
••• • • •••:. 4•-•• • 

•• 

• il•••••••,.1 • 



• •,11. or 

COURT OF GENF1ZAL SESSIONS OF 

CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK: 

THE PEACE, 

PART I. 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 1BEFORE: . 

against HON. ,TOSEPH 

THOMAS COURTNEY, 
Impl eaded with • 

GEORGE
 

HOWARD, alias THOMAS CARSTON.: 

Tried, New York, july.10 etc., 1912. 

INDICTED FOR GRAND LARCENY IN THE SECOND DEGREE and 
RECEIVING, AS SECOND OFFENCES. 

INDIcTMENT FILED MAY 15, 1912. 

APPEARANCES:. 

ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY EVIORY A. BUCKER, 

For the People'. 

GEORGE R. SImP SON , ESQ. , ,For the DefOn0e. 

Beard 

Offi 01E11 St enograph r 

•sI'W•••••.• 



• New York Ji1y 10 191g. 

(A jury was enpanell ed and - sworn) 

- THE COURT: Well, I think we had better take 

a recess now until tomorrow. -And- it these jurors 

will come back at eleven o'clock tomorrow morning it 

wil be time enough. 

- Gentlemen of the jury, the Court will take a 

recess now until eleven o'clock tomorrow morning, 

and meanwhile be very, careful not to scuss vrith 

any one this ease in which you have been =panelled; 

-do not talk about it among yourselves either, and, 

do not cane to any conclusion as to the gzitor 

innocence of the defendant until you hear all that 

to be said on both sides and until the matter 

is submitted to you by the Court folr your decision; 

• that is the time for you to make up your 'mind and 

Now, you are excused until eleven o'clock 

morrow morning. 



MR. BUCKNER: It is conceded by the defendaut, 

that heretofore, to wit, at a Court of General Ses-

sions of the Peace, holden in and for ,the County of 

New York , at the Criminal Courts Building, in the 

Borough of Manhattan, in the City. of Na York 

the 21st day of April, 1903, before the Honorable 

Martin T. McMahon, 'then a Judge of the said COurt, 

said Thomas Courtney,.the defendant now on trial, 

was in due form of law convicted of a felony, to. 

wit, gobbery in the first degree, upon a certain 

indictment then and there in the said Court pending 

against him, the said Thomas Courtney. 

upon the conviction aforesaid, it was considered by• 

ordered and adjudged, that the said Thomas Courtney, 

the defendant now on trial, for the said felony an 

Robbery in the first degree whereof he was so con.-

victed, as aforesaid, be imprisoned in the state 

prison for the term of fOur.years and ten months. 

MR. BUCKNER: If the Court please, thee two 

Vimnen have been here repeatedly, and were here all 

day yesterday, and I told them to come at eieven 

fear that they are going to be a few minutes late. 



But Mr. Bradley is here and„ if the Court would care 

to utilize thetime, we could select a jury, in 

another case, the Imperato case. 

THE COURT: Very well. Select the jury 



THE PEO. PILE S TESTIMONY. 

VERONICA • SCHUBET,of539Westl63rd 

Street a witness called in behalf of The People 
sworn,,.sbéinj

 duly 

testified as follows 

MR. SIMPSON: Will your Honor direct that Eal 

witnesses on both sides be excluded? 

Q. Now, Mrs. Schubert, you will have to talk a great 

deal louder than you talked up at my office, and do not get 

excited, and just take plenty of time, and try to talk 

that the man in the last seat can hear you? A. Yes, six.. 

Q. Are you a married woman? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And where do you live? A, I live 539.West 163rd 

You live with your family? A. Yes, sir. 

Have -you a husband and children? A 

What i s your husband' s business? A. Stxperint end en 

houses, of buildings. 

Q. How long have you lived up in that neighborhood? 

only lived there going on two months in that place. 

Q. Did you live in New York before that? A. 

Yes 

the day, this 



spring, which caused all this troubLe that 

for? A. Yes sir. 

gi DO you know when it was, what day 

month? A. It was theist of May, on 'a MondaY 

Q. The 1st of May of. this year? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And where did you  SO on that -dayl -A..-- -I Wen 

esta4te office with my husband and my little boy, 

estate office where you 'went? 

And near what street on 181st Street? A. Between 

MR. SIMPSON: I object to what she did -in the 

real estate office in the absenee of the defendan 
L, 

as immaterial, irrelevant *and inecmpet exit 



BY MR. BUCKNM: 

Q. What • did you. do with  jOur :husband money after you 

My husband give it to me in my hand bag. 

Q. Did you have a handbag with you 'there? 

Q. And how much did your husband give you? 

dollars, four tens and ton.singl es. 

MR. LIMP SON: I obj ect to the answer; 

to strike it out as immaterial, irrel evant 

the jury understands that this testimony is merely. 

laying a foundation for further testimony* If it is 

not connected with the defendant,_  it must be entirely 

disregarded by them, unless they .show that he did 

something to that money, or acme other personal 

property • I do not know what the evidence' will be 



got- it? A. Well, I 'went first to the delicatessen store.: 

Q. No, when you first got_fe in your hands, what did 

you  do with.it? A, My husband counted it and put it an my 

bag. 

MR. SIMPSON: I object :to that 

irrelevant and incompetent, and move 

the answer. 

TEE COURT: Objection sustained. 

the answer. 

BY MR, BUCKNER: 

husband and myself, and we went 

When you left the real estate office aid you 

see anybody or anything there which attracted your.attention? 

A. When I went into the real estate office, I seen a cab 

with three men, a black taxicab. 

Q. And did you see what the three men werédong? A. 

Well, I seen only one, who was talking to the others inside. 

- Q. Talking to the other two men?. A. 'yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. There were two men in the cab? A. Yes, sir ; one 

standing outside and two were inside of the cab. 

Q. And where was the cab standing with 



sidewalk? A. By the real estate office? 

Q. Yes? A. Herd was the real estate office and here 

was the saloon (illustrating). 

Q. Oh, a saloon was next to the real estate office 

Q. And was the cab in front of, the saloon or the real 

estate office? A. In front of the -saloon. 

Q. Did you -see those men or any of them that time well 

. And: did you ever see any of them after that, after 

that Monday that you saw then in front of the saloon; did.. you 

see any of then again? A. No, sir; not afterwards. I did 

not recognize then any more then. 

Q. You mean at that time? A. Yes, sir; at that 

Q. And then where did you g0 with yOur husband? A. We 

walked down, St. Nicholas Avenue to between 78th and 79th Street, 

and we went tfo a delicatessen store, and the Atlantic  Tea store, 

and as I walked across between 78th and 79th Street a. man 

stood right in front of me, and give me two good pulls (illustrat• 

q• What kind of pulls? A. Like these (il1us'trating)an 

I had only the handle and the man had the bag, and he pulled 

it out of my hand, and walked across the avenue on the other 

aide, to the taxicab and the one that was inside opened, the 

door, and he went inside and shut the door. 



Then you saw a taxicab there; did you? 

Just what street, again, were you at when this bag. 

fran you? A. Between '78th - between 178th and 

q. Where was the man when he .took the bag out of your 

A. Right in front of me. He stood in front 

. And what did you o wlien he took the bag out of Yo 

Q. In the day time? A. Yes, sir. 

cz. Did you have hold of the handle when he pull 

A.- Yes., sir; I had hold of the handle* 

Q. And did you try to hold it? A. Yes, sir; but I had 

the bag and groceries, and I tried to hold it the best I cottld, 

but I could not hold it. He got the bag. 

What was in the bag at the time? A. 'That money that 

Q. And what else, if anything?' A. 'Fifty cents and a 

little pocketbook in which I had same change. 



How much change? A. 

And another podketbodk, in Which 

eye-glasses. 
BY THE COURT: 

Q. You mean a brooch? A. Yes sir; 

pair of eye-glasses, and keys, a bunch 

How much was the change which you had in it? 

could not tell younexactly. 

what kind ofsbills was it? 

don't dispute that she had 

with money in it, whatever 

what happened to the man after he grabbed the 

Q. The other side of St. Nicholas Avenue? A. Yes, sir 

there was one opened the door for him, and hevrent in., 

Q. One opened the door of what? As Of the taxicab. 

And then what did he do when the doOr was opened fOr 



Q. Went in where? 

BY MR. BriaKNER: 

Q. °And then what did the man do tht opened the 

A. He shut the door, and drove slowly off, 

Q. Did he get into the cab too? A. He was in ther 

Q. Did you see how many people were then in the tab, 

And where did cab then go? A. They turned around 

178th Street up Wadsworth Avenue, and I followed it to 179th 

Street and Wadsworth Avenue. 

Q. Now, did you see the man after that? 

see that man again after he took the bag away .from 

No, sir, not after that any more. 

Well, did you ever see him A. -Oh, I.seen hJO 

Did you pick him out of any number ofrmen? A. 

There were a number of men, a whole line there. 

And have you see him since that day in the Detective 

Did you see him in the police court? 



Q. Do you Fee Um now? 

Q. Is he here todaY? A. Yes sir. 

Q. Whereishe? A, Right that laical there 

his man here .(indicating the defendant)? 

Pointing to the defendant? A. Yes, sir. 

s this the man that took your bag away, that 

And did you get a good look at him? -A. 

And that was up here in New York City; was it 

Yes, sir. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. SIMPSON: 

q.• Mrs. Schubert, you were with your husband that 

husband with you at the time 

he with you at the 178th and 179th Street, 

Is your husband here in Court? A. Yes:, sir. 

Do you ,know Mr. Pringle? A. Yes, sir. 

Was he there? A. Well, I never seen Pring1e before. 

Well, you have-seen him since haven't you? A. Yap, 



MSS I 

Q. Was he there at that time? You knew that he was 

there; don't yOu? A Well, I didn't see him that time. 

BY THE COURT:: 

Q. You dian t see him that time? A. 

BY MR. SIMPSON: 

Q,. Now, you were called to Headquarters; that is 

Detective Bureau? What day of the month in May? A. The 

7th of May. 

Q. That was seven days after this alleged occurrence? 

Yes, sir. 

Q• You were taken into Headquarters, and you saw this 

man on the line; did you not? A. I seen'more than six,. I think• 

Q. Let me sae if I. can convince you or correct you in 

that. Who was the man that took you into the rooM where the 

men were standing on line? A. I couldn't tell you. I don 

know the man. 

q• Do you know the detective?' A. I know him when pee 

Q, Soriebody took you into that room? A. Yea, sir. 

Q. Now, there was the first man you went-in alone, 

did you? A. I went in with some men, detectives. 

Q. Now, I want you to tell the. jury what you saw when 

you came into that room the 'first time; .what you saw and what 

you did? A.. I picked out the man who snatched rty 'pock etbOok 

Let me refresh your recollection. Didn't you. go iti) 



to a man on the line, and pick out that man, á..man other than 

this defendant? A. No, sir. 

Q. Are you sure about that? A. Yes, sir. 

You can't be mistaken about that? A. No. 

Q. What position on the line VMS this man in, this  

fendant here; do you know? A. He was in the middle. 

Didn't you go in and pick out the third man- on the 

No sir; I didn't pick out • the third man. 

Well, I will put the questions to you, catergorically. 

you went into that room. weren't there six men on the 

A. More than six, I think. 

How many men were there? A. About ten or twelve. 

Are you sure about that? A. 

were more than six 

count than. 

Q. When you went in what. was the first thing-"You  

I looked around to see if I could .see the man that 41161)110:44d 

Q. And did you see the man that snatched your pocketbook 

that line? A. I did. 

Q. And did you pick out this defendant on: that line? 



What did you do? A. I 

•I did. 

said, "That's the ()man 

put your hand on him? A. 

present at tb\at time? A. The detectiVe. 

know the detective's name?, A. Captain. 

Yes, that is the man, Captain Tunney? A.. Yes • sir. 

Now,Q.  did Captain Tunney tell you to go. in and pick 

the third man ,o,n, that line? A. He didn't ten rne. 

One man, and went out of the door. 

q• And that man you are sue was the defendant? A. Yes, , 

Q. You can't be mistaken? A. Can't be mistaken' 

Now, when you first went in there, did Captain .Tunne3r 

say to you "Look at that man", where the men were standing:, 

di dn' t he say that to you? A. No, sir. He • took me by the arm• p.rid 

.aa4,"Dot be afraida c9 in and pick out. the man that snatctied 

Where the men were? A. While we were going 

Q. While you were going inf A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Didn't he say to you "Look at them and see vth 

can identify the man"? A. No, sir. 



Q. Are you sure about that-? A. 

Q,. It is very important? A. No, 

Q. Many/ he say to you "Look at thOse.mel). and see w1-ieth 

you can identifY the man"? A. No, sir. 

And did you not after looking at the man go •up and 

putyoux hand on the man that was third on the line? 

MR BUCKNER: I obj Oct to that as rep etition. 

It has been asked three times yes or no. 

asked by Captain Tunnel* whether 

identify any of the others on the line? 



Q. Did you see any of the others on the line who were 

with this defendant on that day? A. Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: On which day? 

MR. SIMPSOIT: On the first day of May, on, which 

q. Before you identified this defendant were you shown 

any photographs in the Detective Bureau by any detective or 

photographs or pictures? 

s Q. Yes, before you 

sir; after.that. 

q. After that? A. Yes, sir. 

Now, who showed you that picture? 

Q. —And he showed you the picture of defendant 

Now, after you had identified this defendant in that 

room, did you go home? A. I went home. 

Q. Now, think a little bit. Didn't you go downstairs 

in the basenent? A. Yes, sir; I went down in the basement. 



And when you came down in the basenent how many mi 

see down in that basement? A. How many? 

Yes, about? A. I only seen that one man. 

And wasn't Captain Tunney there? A. Yes- 'Captain 

Q. . Now, let Me see. Didn't Captain Tunny saY..„ "There: is 

the man who robbed you," pointing to this defendant, whileAle 

was standing under a strong light, surrounded by Rolicemen? 

THE COURT: Well when was that said? 

MR. SIMPSON: After this alleged identification, 

Q. Now, did. Captain Tunney, after you had identifie 

man, as you claim, and after you had gone downstairs, did 

When was this alleged statemen 

After she cane into this room 

this defendant, she went downstairs? 

MR. SIMPSON: No, sir, after this defendant 



I went downstairs. 

q. Now, When did You go downstairs? 

Why. did you g0 downstairs? A.. i was called 

Who called you downstairs? A.. Captain Tunney.. 

And when you got downstairs how many people besides 

Tunney and this defendant were down there? A. Only 

How manY other people? A. ,I don't know. 

Weren't there a number of people standing around? 

Q. Where was the defendant standing.downStairs? 

I don't know if it was the 

it was. It was in the corner. . 

q. Was there a good light there? 

didn't Captain Tunney say these words t 

THE COURT: At that 'time? 

MR.. SIMPSON: Yes sir; at that time. 

Q. "There is the man who robbed youv(pOinting 

q. Whet did he say, if anything,to you, Cap 

at that time? A. When we went downstairs? 

He said, "Thdt is the man. 

and I said, "'Yes', that the man 



And when was it that you told him you were Sure of 

the man before that time? A. When I picked him out. 

Q. That was upstairs? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Then do you know why it was that you bad to go down-

stairs in the basement where the cells are , to see this man 

again? A. To ask me for my address. 

Q. Tunney wanted your address? A. Yes, sir. 

standing? A. He wasn't near 

down there when you went down. 

He wa8 standin 

like he was standing on the elevator, over in a corner. 

nid you notice where the light wa A. There was 

no light there, where he was standing. It was outside in the 

You were down in the cella; weren't you? 

There was no hall there; was• there? A. well, some 

a corner, like 'a hall, where you go down a steps, and 

was standing in that corner like that (illustrating). 

Well, there was a pretty good light there; was there 

And there was nobody you say, but Captain 



and yourself there? A. Well, there were some Other men 

standing around. I wasn't looking.' 

Q. And the other lady -went .down with you; didn 

A. Well I don't know. 

Q.. You don't know whether the other lady went down with 

A • Oh, yes; she went down, too. 

Q. Both of you went down? A. Yes, sir, to tákeHa 

Q. To take a good look at that man? A. Yes, sir. 

And that was after you had identified him?. A. 

Was she, this other lady -- is she a witness here? 

Q. Was she in the room at the time you first identified 

this defendant? A. No, sir. Each was taken separate. 

Q. Eacikwas taken separate? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. But when you went down to the cellar when you wee 

called down by Captain Tunney, you went down together? 

MR. BUCKN.ER That's all. 

MR. SIMPSON: -And will your Honor 



THE  COURT: Yes she may remain in. the court 

ROSE DOERNB.ERG,of 552 West 174th 

Street, a witness called on behalf of the People, being day. 

Oworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT ECAMINATION BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. Mrs Doernberg, are you a married woman? A 

Q. Where do youlive? A. 552 West 174th Street,. 

Do you know this woman, Mrs. Schubert, who just 

left the stand here? A. Never saw her before the case. 

q. You never saw her before this case? A. No, sir. 

• What business is your husband in? A. Plumbing' 

Q. Where were you on the day you first saw Mrs. 

On St. Nicholas Avenue_, between 179th and 178th Street. 

you 

Q,. And what attracted your attention to Mrs. Schubert? 

Well,A.  I was bending over the baby carriage, and just-

happened to raise my head, and I seen this man doming badk of 

this wonan; I was walking along, and I just was raising DIY 

headL. and saw this man coning k of this woman and snatching 



Q. And how close to the woman were you When he snatched. 

the bag? A. Wello-I should judge about thirty yards. 

Well; now; judge from this room ,and tell us. about how 

far away you were when you saw that? A. About over to that 

beginning of 

And you were pushing your baby carriage? A. 

He got into a waiting taxicab. 

Q. Were there any other taxicabs around there at the 

I move to strike out the word 



just slowing up when I noticed it. 

Q. Was there anybody inside of the cab? 

see them. 

see anybody outside of the taxicab, excepting 

No, sir; I didn't notice that. 

Was there a chauffeur on the cab? A. I didn't 

t because I was on the other side of the street. 

Did you see the man well enough, the man who snatched 

•of the line? A. Yes, sip. 

ou didn't pick out anybody else first? A. 

ou made no mistake? A. No, sir. 

Well, did you see the man again after that day 

Q. Pointfng to the defendant? A. 

CROSS EDCAMINATION BY KR. SIMPSON: 

Q.,. Mrs. Doernberg do you renenber /lily lit V 



.41111111f; 

distinctly? A. Yes, sir. 

And you also renember that you. saw a an with his 

back to you, some twenty Or twenty-five feet in front of yc 

MR. SIMPSON: Will you concede it wasthat 

Q. And you were wheeling a baby carriage? A. 

Q. And you looked up and saw this man approaching 

woman Schubert, with his back towards you? A. No, sir; I was 

wheeling the baby carriage, and, as I looked up, I savr him in 

back of her already, pulling the bag away from her. 

Q. You saw a man, who, you say, was twenty-five feet 

EttlOad of you, at a time when you looked up and saw his back to 

Q. From the rear of Mrs. Schubert? A. 

Q. And run to a taxicab?,which he entered? A. - Yes, si 

That is right; is it? A. Yes , sir. 

Q. Now, at any time did this man here, this defendant 

whom you now identify, turn his face to you? A* Well, I saw 



Q. Now when was the first time, 

defendant? A. At Police Headquarters. 

Q. When was that? A. The following Wednesday, 

Q. The following Wednesday? A. Yes„, sir. 

Did you gO'•th ere with Mrs. Schubert? 

. Well, Who brought you? A. Well, Detective -Hyman 

cane in the morning and told me to g0 down and identify that 

pursuance of his request you went yourself 

Q. Well, any one in particular? A. No one in particulan 

Q. Did you see Captain Tunney? A. Yes, sir. 

Did you follow the instructions of Captain Tttlitiey as 

to going into the room to identify anybody? A. Yes. 

Q. Now, before you got into that room to identify„.4ad 

anybody spoken to you concerning the line; what you were to do 

Yes sir; one of the deteo-y 



What he told 

MR SIMP SON: No, not yet. 

THE COURT: She simply 16.00 that one detebtive. 

spoke to her , but you 'didn' t ask her •what'. the- deteb--

sir; I have not. 

. Well, what is the name of the. detective.whó spoke..'to 

A. I believe it is O'Neill.. I am not sure. 

Q. And you have met -O'Neill daY in and, day Out, down 

Yes,haven't you? A.  sir; and lam almost sure it vas 

in the room when Detective 

He was standAng' about two 

Q. Well, did any other detectives speak to you that 

Well, they were all speaking a little on the subject: 

Q,, That was before you went in to identify? 11.,,ye 



.1 didn't notice. There were a few Men standin 

that I didn't notice. 

q. Now, when you got into that room,.I wan 

this jury how many men were on the line? Ai Well 

thirteen or fourteen* 

Q. Well were they all standing on the line? 

sir. 

I don't know exactly. 

Q. Sure about that? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You are sure that there were not six men •standing on 

the line? A, Well, I tell you I don't know the eicact number. 

I should think about thirteen or fourteen men. 

Q. You were excited? A. No, not at all 

Q. You were quite cool, calm and collected? 

sir. 

Q. And rou knew what you were doing? A. Yes -sir. 

Q. Now, as you cane into the room, what, if anything, 

was said? A. Just to identtfy the man. 

Q. Who said that to you? A. I don't know.' Some man 

said it to me. 

Q. Was it Captain Tunney? A. No, sir; I don't think  so. 

Q. Well, do you know Captain Tunney? A. Weil only. 

once, down at Headquarters, I met him. 

Q. Didn't you put your hand on the third man on.theline,' 

on that day, first? A. (No answer). 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. Do you understand that question? A. *Y st understand 



t 

BY MR, SLAPPON: 

Q,„ Now, remember that you are -under 

obligation to tell the exact truth? 

How many men did'. you pick out on that line? 

And do you now remember what_number he was on the 

Well, he was .niar the window. I arm not pbsitively 

Well, when you went and picked out that man d 

bk out this defendant; was the defendant the firt;t man 

tit. yOur hand on in that line? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. The second time? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. But I don't mean that. I mean when you cane in, and 

u went along the line, did you not place your hand on a 

tins defendant?Now;thtnk? A. 

Q. And is it not also a fact, after you had — did you 

identify any other person on-thp line there? A. No, sir. 

Q, Were you asked to identify anybody else on the line? 



Q, Were you asked to look for any of the other•men .04 

the line you could recognize? 'A, No, sir;, I only told them 

Q. Now, is it not a fact that the Captain, or some one. 

else there, made these men walk up and down for you to Iodic at, 

Is it not a fact Mrs. Doernberg, that you picked. 

:another person, other than this defendant, out, on three sep-

arate occasions, and then the man-- and that the man that you 

picked out was ordered to come out some six feet from the line? 

A, Yes. I demanded that, because I saw the side view of the 

man,:and that is the reason I asked it. 

And was that this defendant? .A. Yes. .71„amhOt1011;04--

Q. Now, be sure? A. I am almost positive, 

Q. Now, was it not the officer that was called out; the 

some six feet from the line, and not this defendant? JL Well, 

there was a few that did that; it wasn't only one, I asked: 

it. I asked that question, if I could have one or two of them 



Let me see if I can refresh your recollection 

can refresh your recollection -- then, as you were about to go 

out, Captain Tunney said to yout, "Wait a moment", and then it 

was that each one of the men was called to walk? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And isn't that so? A. I pointed with my umbrella, and 

said, "That is not definite enough. Let him walk out." 

Q. And, pursuant to your request each individual was 

walked out, weren't they, each one on that line? IL Yes, 

one stepped out separately. 

Q. And then didn't you identify a person other than thiS 

at that :time? A. I am almost positive, 

was not there, and the jury were not there? A. Certainly.. 

Q. And it is of importance, I have only the statement of 

what I had learned took place there, and I may be wrong. 

Vast your memory? 144 / am almost sure, 

Q. Now, isn't it a fact, that after you had taken :the -

third man on the line, and this defendant was Called out+ he 

being the- fourth man, you said, "He 'looks like the man'? A, 

•Q. And then, after you went out c)±' that room, isn't it a 

fact that Captain Tunriey- .. called you and the Schubert 

woman and requested you to come downstairs? - Yes) sir., 

Q. Before you had gone downstairs, however, this 4efend,. 

ant had been taken downstairs; hadn't he? A. Yes, 'sir: 



Q. Nawl, when -you-got downstairs -in the -,Cp1.11.; 

cellar, wasn't it? A7 Yes, sir. 

.There was a pretty sharp light burning;, was'th,e±e:nOt? 

c. WImt, 'f anything, did. Captain Tunney say to either one 

you ladies, if. anything at all? A. He said, thiS 

Q. He said, "We have got him"? A. Yes, sir. 

. That was after you had made an identification, that 

is, as you have testified in answer to my questions? A. 

MCAEINATION BY TER.. BUCKUR: 

Just a moment, Mrs. Doernberg.- Do you remember wieth 

ndant was third, sfourth, fifth, sixth or seventh man 

Q. Now, Mr. Simpson is asking you questions very much --

involved, in which he says that you picked out first number 3 



and then_number-4. .Did you mean to testify that A. 11o*eiro. 

And I pointed out with my umbrella, and I 7saidr 6Yau10U-st be more  

definite, and you must have them step out of the linel, 

pointed My umbrella to the defendantr but I am not sure whether 

he was the third .or the fourth man, 

• Q. ,And you never, pointed out any other man in that line; 

is that so? A. Yes, sir. 

Q,. You pointed to no one else in AL. Yes sir. 

Q. You are positive of that? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you at any time, Mrs. Doernberg, put. your hand on the 

defendant, or any other person in that line? A.Yes, sir; on the 

. Then was it that you put yourdefendant? A4 

Down in Headquarters. 

Q. . Where was it? A. Well, it was in a big room. I 

don't know exactly what room it was. 

ct. Is that the room you went into where the men were on 

the line? A. Yes, sir. 

When was it that you put your hand on the defendant in 
_ 

that room?. A. Well when I was told to identify him. 

After you had requested that they .should come out of the -

line, so that you could get a side view of the faces? 

Q. And up to that time you had pointed to no one else in 

that line? A. No; sir; I only pointed my umbrella—at-thlai 

tleman here (indicating the defendant). 

Q. Didn't you point it at number 3? A. I am jiot sure 

whether it was .or four. 



you point your um:brella,. he 

other. man on that line but, this defendant? 

FREDERICKP SCHUBERT, of 541 

West 163rd Street, a witness called in behalf of the People, 

being duly sworn, testified as follows: . 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. Mr. Schubert will you try to talk very loud,, just as 

loud as I am talking? A. Yes, sir, 

superintend9 

and use your mouth morel. 

so that the last gentleman can hear 

over here (indicating Mrs. Schubert)? A. 

Were you with your wife on the let of May, when this 

Q. And where were you standing? A. 



Now, get the thing straight. Was it the .street 

And you saw some one snatch your wife's bag? 

Q,. And how far was it from you, the taxicab? .A„: 

I should judge about the length of this roam; not quite.r. 

Q. Did you see anybody else there at the taxicab?. A. 

'didn't see anybody inside, but saw a hand on the door of thea 

Well did you get a good look at the 

I identified a an by the name of Kirk. 

Q. Did you get a good enough look at the man who took 

the pocketbook to identify him? A. Well, I only saw the 004 
A 

And don't pretend to pick him out? A. No, s1 

But you saw another man there?- A. Yes sir. 



Q. And you picked him out? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Now, what did the taxicab'do, after. the mangot in 

the man that had taken the lase A. Well the cab was on the 

wrong side of the street, where he Ohaticl come up, and. the 

steam was up, and the hand rested on the door., and everything was 

ready to jump in, and off she went, 

object to the latter part of the 

Strike it ou 

Q. Do you know hvw many people were in the taxicab?  

No, sir. I was behind.the taxicab, and I Could not. 04,9 ti 

the color 'of the taxicab? 

Q. Was there any other taxicab there? 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. SIMPSON: 

And you got a side view of him? A. Yes, sir. 

Was that.man this defendant? Ay By the side view, 

But I won't say that is the man. 



Q. Will you swear, that this defendan 

your wife's pocketbook? A. I will not; 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. You don't know? Is that right? 
L. 

couldn't say that. I don't know. 

MR. BUCKER: The People rest. 

MR. SIMPSON: In order to preserve the rights of 

the defendant, I ask your Honor to take away from the 

consideration of the jury the charge of Grand Larceny 

in the second degree, as a second offence upon the 

ground that the People have failed to prove facts 

sufficient to constitute the crime. 

THE COURT: Denied. 

MR. STEPSON: Exception. And your Honor's de-

nial of my motion is no expression of your Honor' 

opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the 'defendant. 

THE COURT: Certainly not. And the jurY will 

so understand. 

MR. BUCKER: There is the receiving 'count 

in the indictment. I don't care about that. 

THE COURT: Then as I understand it, the Die•

 

u.' 

trict .Attorney wants the case to be put to the jury 

• solely on the larceny charge? 

MR. BUCKNER: Yes, sir. 

SILTSON: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Then it is oo ordered, 

•• :WO, sir; 



• THE DEFENCE, 

THOMAS C_OURTNEY, the defendant, 

duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SIMPSON: 

Q. Thomas, where did you live at the time of your arrest? 

• A. 554 Vest 51st Street. 

Q. With whom did you live there? A. A woman by the name 

of Mrs. Caddell. 

Q. How long had you roomed there? A. From about the 

day of April, and was living there at the time of my arrest. 

• Q. Where had you been employed at that time? A. 477 

Third Avenue, for Martin Flanagan, 

Q. As what? A. Tending pool tables, and waiting on 

drinks, and I went to work about three o'clock in the afternoon 

and closed up when there was no more business, any time from 

one to three o'clock in the morning, when business got sloW, 

closed up the place and turned in the keys. 

Q. And you worked there from what period of time? A. 

From Monday, January 8th, I went to work there. • 

Q. You have been convicted of crime, Tam? A. Yes, sit. 

Q. And how many times? A. I have been convicted of one 

felony. • 

Q. One felony? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And how many misdemeanors? A. Two. 

Q. And how many times have you been arrested by the police? 

A. About twenty. 

(T,I=7:17:1 



Did you ever have any difficulty.with the police?' 

A arrested, four years ago, for assault 4110n:6,A)oliceman„ 

Q. What was his name? A. I think it was  McKenna. 

Was that after you had finished your time? 

Q. Do you know the officers in this .case? A. 

Q. Had they locked you up before this time? A. No, six 

Q. At any time? A. No, sir. 

Q. Now, where were you on the 1st of May4 19124 if you 

know? A. I was in my hone, there I was stopping at the time, 

Q. What tir'.-of day did yau get there? A.  

in the Morning, around four or five o 

Q : And went to bed? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What time did you leave the housethat 

Q. Were you in the vicinity of 178th and 179th Street, 

on the 1st day of May, between eleven and twelve pi the mxarning 

of that day, and did you at that time grab a bag frollr-tbA 

the complaining witness, Mrs. Schubert? A. No, sir, 

Q.. And jump into a taxicab? A. No, sir. 

Q. You are positive about thatITom? A. Positive, Z. 

will take my oath, and, as God it$ my judge I was not in the 



Q. And when were you arrested? 

restaurant, between 40th and 41st Street 
- 4 

In Mahoney's lunch room.. 

Q. And where were you taken when you were arrested?' 

There were four of us eating together. We were standing at 42nd 

Street first when the officers came along, and they went 

to the opposite side of the street and stood in the doorway 

and watched us until we went in and got a drink, at 43rd 

Street and then followed us- into that restaurant, and cane 

in with several officers, and I 

me,. when the four of  came in, and grabbed us and  searched 

and said "Where is your guns", and searched us all around, 

and took us to the 37th Street station house. 

Q. .Did you ask the officers what you were arrested for?. 

A. They said, "We are back on our old tricks, picking up 

Q. What do you mean by the word "spec", or don't it 

mean anything to you? A. Why, on suspicion, I suppose And 

we were taken to Police Headquarters at eight o'clock in the 

morning, and kept there until eleven o'clock in the morning. 

Q. Did you have any talk with any person or persons while 

at Police Headquarters that morning; that is before you were 

stood up in line? A, Why, I was taken downstairs and put 

in the roan, in the Bertillon system room. The fair of US 



Pat, there until 'about eleven o'clock, and then theY .feidhed 

That was all. They had 

Q. Now, what was done with you there in that room', before 

these women came in? A. As we was fetched upstairs we wax 

fetched out of the basement into this big, large roan, and 

over in the other roan, opposite1 there welre four complainan 

which I had never seen until that 

And we wer.e lined up in this room, and there fore 

four or five policemen, two or three of then connected with 

this case, they came down with us, Officer O'Neill and Kerr, 

and another officer that I don't know, and they fetched us 

over and they lined us on this side of the table against the 

And there was an officer, about six feet, with a 

black mustache, on the end, and with him another offiCer, 

built like me, on the other side of me, and I between. 

And one of• the officers walked towards this other 

roam an0 said "Are you ready"? And I said, 

and one of then said, "You know what it is We Will shaw you, 



what it is . It is an identification." 

Then I turned to this fellow that was fourth and 

said, "You had better stop up here, if it is in identification,_ 

and met between these two young f ellows" -- that was Howard and 

he got up between the two officers. 

And they went into this other room, and fetched oUt 

She walked out and she walked over to number three, 

which was One of the officers, or whatever position he held 

I don't know what he was -- never seen him before or since 

and she put her hand on this officer, and Captain Tunney said, 

"Are you positive", and she said, "Yes, \I em positive". 

And then he said, "Look along the line and walk along 

the line, and see if you can recognize anybody else,," and she 



And so she picked .out number three, the. on.l.y one Of 

four of Us that was  clean shaved and she walk ed -ov and 

A.ng after a long consideration,she said that I looked 

like ne of the men, but she was not positive. 

And then they fetched out a big stout man and he 

said he couldn't identify anybody in the line. No, first he 

to number three the seine as the other two did 

he picked out this Howard, and he couldn't identify the rest 

And then they fetched out the other gentleman the 

husband of the lady, and he said he couldn't identify any one*, 

And, on this side of the room, was seven or eight 

officers, across the table, but they were not in line 

with vq; and he said he could not identify any one, but after 

saying no twice, they persisted on him looking over thoroughly 

and he said that he thought Kirk looked like one of them. 

And they took me downstairs, and when I was 'down 

about five minutes, four or five officers came- dOWn 

and Captain Tunney took me out and put me in it corner Wiih the 

four or five officers, under a big electric'light', and called 

me all the Vile nanes)he could think of; that I was .an 

viet , and cop fighter, and he would attend to me, and. he would 

send me back to:state prison where I belOngdS 



And he said it was well that it was not him that I 

had the trouble with, or I would be over in the graveyard 

instead of down here on this charge, and he would make it 

his business to see I was convicted. 

And he fetched in the two women. As they got tót 

bottom of the stairs--- he saw then eomiflg and he called than 

and he said, "There is the manthat robbed you, and nobody 

And I was talking to Captain Tunney at the time, and 

I turned around, and I said, NO, madam I never done saella 

thing in my life, I never robbed a woman, and f never see 

you before, and I never done anything like that in my life. 

never robbed a woman in my life," and he said,'"Yau,are a liar., 

and the women went away, and he grabbed me, and he threw me in 

And we were taken to the Harlem Police -Court they 

wouldn't take us direct to the police court but they put Us 

in the 126th Street station house, and held us to about half-

past one, and fetched us into a room in.the police court*_ 

where they had about eleven men, all clean shaved-, some taller 

and some smaller than me, and fetched in four or fivqi 

And they identified two or three people in the crowd, 

but there was no identification for me. They were eye wit-

nesses, they said, and they swore that hese were themen that 



done it, and they said I 

There were lame of then there in the Harlem 13 lice 

Court, and there was no identification. 

Q. And those five people identified otherpeople on the 

Picked them out as being the persons? 

ut didn't identify you? A. • No, sir. 

they said they were  eye witnesses Of the occurrence 

Q. Did anybody identifyFilliems? 

Q. Now, is there anything else Courtney that comes 

to your mind regarding this matter? A. No, sir; nothing 

more than they tried to make this Williams -- after he Wasn't 

identifi ed they took him out into a p ri vat e room, and told 

him to say that he heard me say, "Well if I am convicted of 

this, I am going away fox. sanething that I done," and he said 

I never made any remark of that kind, so he told me. 

And so he was taken up and held until the next d 

Now, let us get back to the 1st day of May. ou, say 

you were in the house where you lived from between four and 

five o'clock that morning until, about 1:30 that afternoon 



Q. How do you know it was the 1st of May? 

I give the landlady some money that day on account of it being 

her rent day. Iowed the landlady some money and she •asked•me 

ow much did you owe her? A. Five dollars. 

ow much did you pay a week? A. Five dollars* 

And you gave her the five dollars? A. Yes, sir* 

CROSS FAAMINATION BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. What was the felony you were convict ed of? A. 

Charged with two other men with robbery, stealing a man's 

with the other two prisoners. 

,y robbery? A. Robbery. 

MR. SIMPSON: I object to 

A. Taking a Watch from a man's pocket. 

MR. SIMPSON: Now, if your Honor please, the 

fact that Ile was 'convicted of robbery is sufficient. 



may ask him. 

BY law EUCKR 

Q. Well, was it robbery in the first degree? 

Q. That is the only time you have ever been convicted of 

Q. Either been in New York or 

Q. Did you testify in that case? A. Yes, sir. 

q. Did you say anything about the police in 

A. No, sir. 

Q. • Hadn't you been arrested before that? A. 

only once. 

And weren't you arrested in 1898? A. No, sir. 

MR. SIMPSON: One moment. I am going to get 

upon this record that the district attorney has on 
7=T " 

the table before him: a police court record of this 

defendant, in the presence of this jury, and I ob 

to it from which he is reading. 

THE COURT: Well, you may state your Obj eetion 

and IWill sustain the objection, as to any interr0-

gation concerning an arrest. Convictions only tha 

C:r 

G7:727= 



MR. BUCKNER: But the Court has for 

Mr. Simpson asked him, how many times he had been 

arrested by the police, and he said twenty times, 

and now the door is open, I submit. 

THR COURT: No. I will sustain the obj action 

as to arrests. You have a right to inquire abou 

convictions, and he has the right to- exillain them. 

You may call his at  to any criminal or dis-

graceful act in his life, but the Courts have 

Q. You have testifi ed , have you not that you. were ar-

rested twenty times? You said, that haven' t you  A. Yes. 

because you asked the question, Mr. Simpson. 



TEE COURT: It is allowed sdlaTbecause you 

asked the question yourself. 

R. SIMPSON: Exception. 

I had been arrested twice conviction and ebou 

when was your last 

THE COURT: Well, as I understand the testimony, 

he said that he had been convicted of a felony and 

two misdemeanors. You may ask him whether there was 

any other conviction, if you wish* 
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niisdaneanor. 

Q. What kind of a misdemeanor? 

Petit larceny? A. Yes, sir. 

That is 'cinelt What year? A. 

Q." -Were you ever convidad of  anything else? 

'Q. Of any other misdemeanor; only the twice? • 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. You said there were two misdeneanors. What 

A. Both were what is called short changing. 

BY MR. BUCKNER: 

q. Weren't you convicted in Newark, New TerSer,.of 

petit larceny and fined? A. Well 

me:anors and one felony. 

BY THE COURT: 

(1,. Is that one of 

A. Yes, sir: 

BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. Then we have robbery, petit larceny and short. chan ing? 

It was always short- changing 

Q. And haven't you h eon convicted more than those three 

times? A. Yes, I believe once more, disorderly c:oducti 

And when was that? 

MR. SIMYSON: I obj eat to that and move ,to strike' 

out both the question and answer as not within the 

indictment , or not proper cross examination. 



co" r • V. mot 

you have the satire right. Any witness may be.inter-

rogated about any disgracefml, or criminal, or 

vicious act in his life, solely for the purpose 

affecting his credibility. 

MR. SIMPSON: But he has confessed to suf-

ficient,already, I think. _ 

THE COURT: Well, that is for the jury to 

determine. 

MR, BUCKNER: Not sufficient yet, no, sir. 

BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. 

Island. 

And where was the disorderly conduct? 

And that is four? 

And that is all; is 

Q. There has 

. Yes; that makes four. 

never been anything else? 

What about Lawrence, Massachusetts? 

one of them. 

A. No,sir. 

A. Yes, that 

Lawrence, Newark, Staten Island and here. 

Q. Now we have got all confused. Robbery one? A. 

Yes, sir. 

three? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Disorderly conduct, Staten Island, four? A. Yes, 

Mow, larceny in Lawrence, five? A. Yes, sir4 

Q. Was that short-changing? A. Please repeat that 



again. Please repeat the four. 

0,41 It9Pb erg' lone. 1903? A. 

BY THE COURT: 

larceny. Short-changing. 

Q. Well, I thought you said petit larceny? A. No, 

that was short-changing. I was never ôOnvIeted of petit 

MR. SUPSON: I object to his reading from a 

paper, in the presence of the jury. 

• THE COURT: The jury will understand that 

it is merely a menorandum that the District Attorney 

is using, thesene as any other memorandum. 

MR. SIMPSON: And I desire to place on.the 

record that the menorandum is a police official re-

port upon the various offences with which this de-

MR. SDAPSON: Yes, sir; I will. 

THE COURT: It is not necessary. You are the 

only person who has called attention to it. 

is getting to be as old 



as the hills in these courts, this practice. 

THE COURT: The District Attorney has the right 

to read from any paper, book or document that he 

has. Now, the fact that he has a paper in his 

hand does not add any weight to the question* 

MR. SIMPSON: May I get it upon the record? 

It will go to the Court of Appeals some day, if not 

in this case. May it be noted that he is reading 

from the yellow sheet, that is used by the Detective 

Bureau of the City of New York, and on it is 'typewrit-
ten the history of this defendant's 

THE COURT: Now, the jury will disregard the 

statements of both counsel. The district Attorney 

has the right , and the defendant's counsel has the 

same -right to interrogate witnesses on cross exanin-

ation as to any criminal or disgraceful or vicieu.s 

act in the.career Of that witness, for the purpose 

of being considered by the jury, on the question :of 

the credibility of the witness; and in this case, 

in which the defendant is indicted as a second of-

fender, the District Attorney has a right to provtg as 

a fact in the case the crime set forth in the indict-



T}LE COURT: Now, the District Attorney will go 

on. I don't know what he wishes to ask*. But I knOw 

what he has the right to ask, and your rights •are 

fully protected by that statement and pleabe don 

Q. And another in Lawrence , Massachusetts? A. Yes, sir.. 

Q. And was there anything else? A. Disorderly 

about Salem, Massachusetts? A. That iS 

only short-changing affair. 

Q, Weren't you sent to the House of Correction in, Mas 

Q. Just at the end of that time weren't you 

Salem, Massachusetts and sent to the Boa 



Superior Court for 

was for Lowell* 

Q. Then that 

Then don't you call that two convictions in Massachu-

setts? A. Well, it was acted upon the same as 

Q. But you only count them 

Q. And didn't get away between A. 

Q. And, therefore, it is one? 

Q. You call it one? A. Yes, sir. 

MR. BUCKNER: Will you call in Captain Tunney 

Q. Is that the man that you say called yod a lia 

MR. SIMPSON: !Ow, wait a minute. I object 

the form of the question* And he got ample. time 



the question properly. 

TH.E COURT: Objection overruled. But I have 

made a rule excluding witnesses, and you will just 

ask him whether that is the man that he calls. Captain 

MR, SIMPSON: Now', I object to the stat,cment of 

the District Attorney in the presence of the jury, 

enlightening this officer as to what was said in this 

Rip And that is the man that you say jobbed 

And that, if you had had any trouble with htn, You 

in the grave yard? A. Yes, sir. 

And, when you were in that line, yotil jumped out of 

me and took a different place? A, No, sir. 

Oh, you took another man, and put him where you. We 



the r'ian• You have testifiedlin answer to your counsel 

tion, that four or five different people were asked to .co3.7].a in 

Who grabbed the pocketbook? A. Yes. 

Q. Now, I am asking you if Mr. Schubert only pretended to 

pick out the man who Was at the door of the taxicab and did riot. 

pretend to pick out the man who t)ok the bag; isn't that so? 



what you say,. but I don't What the connection was,: 

Q,. Then you don't know that tiro men pretended tol4c1c. 

out the man that stole the bag  but did not pick yoU out? 

MR. SIMPSON:• I object to that as immateril, 

irrelevant and incOmpetent. 

What basis have you in your testimony that 

nesses pretended to pick out the man who took the ba 

Q. What basis have you to say that Mr. Pringle 

this woman and her husband pretended to pick . 

who took the bag, and did not pick you out? A. I 

Well, I don't think you did, but your counsel said it? 

Milt. SIMPSON: I object to the statement of the 

THE COURT: The jury will decide the case on 

the facts as found by them from the testimony or 



4 
witnesses, and they will ignore the 

counsel on either side, unless they 

inference from the testimony. 

stateMen:ts of 

are a proper 

other people that were in the taxicab? 

Q. Now, you did know this man Howardvalias Carston 

I met him at a social club at EUgene Daffy's. 

Q. And he was with you when you were arrested? A. Yes, 

q. And he was one of the men who was picked 04 
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Arid so that you and Howard and. Kirk were all piticed-Out 

of  the people who were brought into the ling up? 44 tes 

in the restaurant, lunch room. 

eating beef stew, at least I was eating beef stew. 

Q.1161Ydallad any trouble with any of the officers in this 

case? A. I had had some dealings with one of them,, noth-

ing to speak of; some talk with one of them about case. 

Q. Did I understand you to say on the direct examination 

that you had had no trouble with these officers at all? A. 

I seen them before they arrested me. 



Q. This particular .numb6/1 of central office men, you had  
_ 

never had any trouble With!? 

Q. But they came in and said-, "We are up to our Old tricks 

of taking men in on 'sic'"? A.  Yes, 

Q. And they put you in the jail? A. Yes, sir. 

Q . And you are entirely innocent 

And are a good, hard working,, honest poolroom man? • 

MR. SIMPSON: I object tothat question? 

THE COURT:- Objection sustained.. And the jury. 

will disregard the question„ 

EEDIBECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SIVSON: 

Nevertheless you swear .before your God, and the Ooui 

and these jurymen, that between, the hours of five o'clook:irl 

RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BUCKNER: 

And you woite beforeOw, God, you.t Maker, in your 



robbery case,, didn't you? A. admitted the part I took in 

BY NT% SIMPSON: 

Q. Now, tell this jury all about it. . You admitted what 

part you took in• it? A. Yes, sir. 

(1. Now, tell the jury? A. ,Well, at the time of the rob  .-

beryl I was in the livery business, and one of these men worked 

for me, and he was under the influence of linuor, and todk 

this man's watch, and I stepped over to find out what the argu-

ment was about, and I was arrested in the company of him and 

the other fellow, who also worked for me, and we was all three 

arrested for the ,crime of one man, and we all stood trial,to-

gether, and was convicted. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. 

I was an 

Q. 

Then you did not commit -any robbery? A. No, sir; .but 

accessory by being there. 

I merely wanted to get the meaning of your words/ ' A. 

Yes, yourilopor that's it. 

BY MR. SIMPSON: 

Q. And you were convicted as an accessory, or one of 

three persons, although you did not commit any robbery? A. 

No, sir, and that was admitted on the stand. 

Q. It was admitted on the stand? A. Yes, sir, 

Q. And you had not committed that robbery? A. No, r; 

the man worked for me that did it. 

BY Mi. BUCKNER: 

Q. .Then you were notguilty? AV 

- 

guilty 



extent of being in his company. 

Q. But you did not help in the robbery in any way" 

sir. 

Q. And then it was really tinjust that you should have• 

been convicted? A. Well, if you want to put it that way. 

c. Well, but have you ever been guilty of any of the 

short-changing charges? A. 

wasn't it? A. 

. And you are known as the chief short-changing:Van in 

the United States; aren't you? A. No, sir; only in New York. 

and Massachusetts and New Jersey: 

Q. You are known as that, aren't yout throughout the 

United States? A. No, .sir; only in these three .statesthat I 

Avenue, a witness called on behalf of the Defence, being duly 

sworn, testified as follows:' 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SWPSON: 

Where do you reside', Mr. Pringle? A. 598. West 178th. 
a juror serving in this particular part as .a 

• ct, And when was it, for the first time, that you ever me 

the attorney of this defendant? A. Why, I seen you here' 



in this roam. 

Q. . You saw me in this court roam? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Within the last few dayst while you were doing jury. 

duty? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You are a witness against one of the defendant's  -

this case, are you not, Mr. Pringle? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Where were you on the 1st day of May,. 1912? A. At 

my store, at 178th Street and St. Nicholas Avenue. . 

Q. Were you there in the morning of that day? A. Yes, 

Q. Did anything occur that attracted your attention on 

that day? Yes or no? A. Yes. 

Q.• Did you on that day see Mrs. Schubert, this lady 

sitting over here (indicating), the complainant in this cage? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And where if anywhere, did you see her? A. At 

Wadsworth Avenue -- first7pt St. Nicholas Avenue and 181st* 

Street. Then I saw her running behind the automobile. 

Q. Did you see any act of 

A. No, sir. 

robbery committed that day? 

Q. Did you see the persons, any persons, around that 

automobile? 

automobile. 

Q. And one of those three people you have recogni 

well, at least I thought I did. 

A. I seen that there was three people in the 

d? 



i 

c.Did you see the defendant in that automobile on that. 

day?. A. I can't say„ sir, I don't recognize him. 

Q. You don't recognize him at all? A. No, sir. 

Q.• And could you see the people in the autbMobilel-

Yes,, just passing me. 

BY THE COURT: 

curve .siowly. 

BY MR. SIMPSON: 

Q. And it was moving slowly? A. Yes, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. Waltwill you swear that that man was not in the 

automobile (indicating the defendant)? A. 

BY MIL SIMPSON: 

Q. And will you swear that he was? 

not. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. 

dO you? 

sir; I wouldn't. 

sir, I will 

you? A. Yes, sir. 

(I. And that was this man Howard? A. Yes, sir. 

Q. The man that the defendant says wasAils nd -Yes, 



sir. I pidked him out as one of the men 

at least that I believe was there. 

BY THE COURT: . 

BY R. BUCKNER: 

48 Now describe the situation when the automobile came. 

around the corner? A. I was coming out of the tailor store 

around the corner, and coining towards my store, and the auto-

mobile was just turning the corner, and Mrs. Schubert was 

(1. And were there any wagons in the street at the time?. 

Q. Well, what do you mean by the far curb? 

opposite side of the street from me. 

Q. You weren't on the same side -of -the Street as 

automobile? A. Well, the sidewalk was here, and I was 

Yes, sir; 

Q. What street? A. 178th Street. 

BY KR. BUCKNER: 

Q. And when the machine finally dot 



and rounded the corner, what did they do? A. They spe eded 

away a little more lively, 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SIMPSON: 

Q. pardon me, Mr. Pri.ngle. How close was this woman be-

hind the automobile? A. I should say about twenty or thir 

Q. Did you run. after the automobile? A. Yes, 

Q. Did you  look into the automobile?. I coUldn.Itt 

when it passed me, but I saw the number on the back of i 

Q. Did you get the number? A. ,Yes, sir, 

Did you give it to the police?. A.  No, sir, 

Os.. Dldn1t they ever ask you for the number ofthe 

They never asked you for the number? A. Nolqdr. 

to another party who telephoned it to Policp Headquar-
'W 

Who did you give it to? A. Mr. Cashman, 

Q. And where does he live? A. Why, a couple of doors away 

from my store. He has an undertaker's establiahment. 

C:=7:11:13 



•  M A,RY CADDELL, of 554 'West 51ot Street 

witness, called on behalf of the Defence, being duly sworn.,, 

• testified as follows: 

• DIRECT EXAMINATION BY KR. SIMPSON: 

Street.' 

Q.Are you a married lady? A. Yes, sire 

Q. Do you know the defendant at the bar? Ay 7s, 

Q,. How long haveyou lived at that address.whiCh you 

have just given? A. Going on four years. 

Did I as  you whether you were a married woManl 

what, if anything, you.saw him do 

on that day, if you remember? A. Well, in the morning, at 

ten otclodkr between ten and half past ten, he came out to go 

to the toilet, and he went in, 7,..nd about eleven otclockl, or 

about ten minutes to eleven, he came out and asked Ae for a 



pen and ink; that he wanted.to write a letter, and I gaye 

him, and he went inside again. 

And I owed a bill, and the 

Mr. Courtney Was after giving PB a five dollar bill, 

and I gave three dollars to the woman, the,collectorl and 1 

paid'three-doliats out of that five U.the woman. • 

And, around twelve o'clock, we have lunch, and he came out 

and had lunch with me, and my husband and my little boy and .my' 

And then, a little after one, he went out, and I did 

not see him again until the next day, UipH until the WI a4Y 
on Monday, and from that day to this I never, laid 6yes On him 

and this is the first time I ever see 

because this woman always comesto me 

apparel, anything you want to buy. So much 

by the month I pay her on time. 

Q What is the name of the laay? A. 



CROSS EXAMINATION BY NIL BUCKNER: 

Q. What time did the 'defendant 'go out of your house on 

30th of April? A. At one o'clock, the usual hour he writ out 

Q. I know. He usually went out at one o'clockt but this 

particular day, the 30th of April,I.want you to tryytC recalll 

A. . Always a one o'clock. And he went out at One ofclOck on 

And he never varied a minute, from one day'to thb-lather 



T H 0 M. A S J. T U N-NE Y, awitnews 941.iea-

on behalf of the People, being duly sworn testified as :follOWs1. 

DIRECT -EXAUINATION BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. Captain Tunney, this is the . jury 

long have you been a captain? A. I am not a cap.. 

an acting captain in charge of the Sixth Detective 

• Q. Did you tell him that if you had lagar had any troeble 

him that he would be in the graveyard? A. No, sir. 

you tell him that you were going to get hip.? 

Did you Oa* him on 'the identification? 

you could pick him out? A. No, sir. 

Q.PiLyoal.161; up this line, with this 

number, so that .they could pick him out? 



• is not proper rebuttal, and :1 ject to it 

THE COURT: Overruled, 

STKPSON: Exception, 

A. I had nothing to do with the formation oftheane. 

Q. Did you throw him into a cell with the siatement tb 

you were going to fix him? A. No, sir; I didn't take him to 

the cell at all.. I had nothing to do with the defendant, ec 

cept to have a brief conversation with him, 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. SIMPSON: 

Q. And you did have a brief conversation with him? A. 

Yes; after he was identified. 

Q. And you were very friendly disposed towards him on 

that day; you had a very friendly feeling towards him? A. 

met before, and I have cross-iexamin-

Q. And you understand my English, don't you, perfectly 

well? A. Yes. 

Q. Didn't you tell the officers to give this defendant a 

second offence., when they were taking-him out? A. Yes, T 

did. I said to see that he was indicted as a seCond offender, 

Q. And you had no feeling in the matter at No 

REDIRECT EkAl:INATION BY MR. BUCKNER: 

Q. Are ya2. t be grand jury? A. 

Q, Or the District At4orney? 



MR. BUCKNER: No, sir; that 

N14 SIMPSON: No other witnesses. 

THE COURT: Now, Gentlemen of the Jury, I will 

excuse you until two' o'clock, 

(The Court then admonished the jury in accord-

ance with section 415 of the Code of Criminal Proced-

ure, and took a recess until two clock). 



AFTER RECESS. 

1E4 SIMPSON: .may I now make my motion on the 
whole case, that your Honor advise the -jugy to acquit, 

on the ground that the People have not established 

sufficient facts to sUpport the indictment, have not 

established facts sufficient to constitute a crime? 

SIV,PSON: Exception. I ask your Honor to 

charge the jury that the denial of, the motion is not 

an indication on your Honor's part of any opinion as 

to the guilt or innocence of the defendant 

THE COURT: I so instruct the jurye 

(Mr. Simpson then summed up for the defence 

and Mr. Buckner closed the case for the People). 

MR. SIMPSON: May I have on the record this one 

to consider his previous convictions 

.On the question of credibility, I 

• THE COURT: . The jury has a right, as I have alreaotr 

said repeatedly during the trial, to consider -any 



inal, vicious or tumoral act of any witness in deter-

mining the credibility of that witness. 

You are mat to consider, gentlemen of the jury,, 

or to find that, because a man has committed other 

crimes, he is, thereforelguilty of this crime. 

And that is the way I understood the District 

Attorneyts remRrks, •and that is the way that you are 

to understand them, if you draw any inference what-

ever from them. 

MR. SIMPSON: And may I except to your Honor's 

statement wherein your Honor says that that is -Ole 

way you understood the District Attorney? 

MR. SIMPSON: To which I respectfullyexoept. 

THE COURT: I merely wish to protect the, Dis-

trict Attorney from the imputation of sayingssame-

thing which is unfair and illegal,AndJ (1,9 not think he 

did. Of course the jury. understand. 

MR. SIMPSON: I except to your Honor's state-

T}E COURT: And, of course, the jury know what 

the District Attorney said, and what the Court said. 

The Court speaks very plainly. It is the duty of the 

Court, gentlemen, to instruct you as to the law, as 

will instruct you more fully, and you will disregard 



the statements of any one as to the -e-tiridencor as 

to what has happened here, unless it accords with,yOur--

awn recollection, and., if you will pay attention to  

the Court, I will instruct you as to the law, and 

absolutely free and independent in your deCisiOn of 

the facts,. and in the application of the law to the 



This defendant has been indicted by the Grand Jury 

County of the crime of Grand Larceny in the second 

The indictment charges that, heretofore, this defend--

ant was convicted of a felony, the said felony being robbery in 

the first degree, and was imprisoned, by order of tillage Malahon, 

of the Court of General Sessions, for a term of four years an4'. 

ten months, on the 8th day of February, 1903; and that there,. 

after, after that conviction and sentence, to wit, on the first' 

day of May, 1912, in this County, in the day time of the said 

day, with'torce and arms, this defendant and .two other persons, 

one bag, of the value of one dollar, and the sum of fifty dol-

lars in money, lawful money of the United States of America, 

and of the value of fifty dollars, one purse of the value of 

twenty-five cents, one other purse of the value of fifty cents, 

four keys of the value of ten cents each, and one pair of eye-' 

glasses of the value of fifty cents of the goods, chattels and 

personal property of one Veronica Schubert, on the person 

of the said Veronica Schubert then and there being found, from 

the person of the said Veronica Schubert then and there felon" 

iously did steal,. take and carry away, against the form of the 

statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace 

of the People of the State of New. York and their dignity, 



Now, you understand, gentlemen, .that the indictment -• 

is merely a charge, and that it is put in writing so that it 

may be clear and definite, and so that the defendant may know 

exactly what the charge is that is made againstYm, and so 

that you may keep in mind the elements of the charge. 

Now, what are the facts charged against this defenda 

It is charged, first, that Mrs. Veronica Schubert was 

in the County of New York, in the day -time of May 1St, 1912; 

anethat she had a bag of the value of one dollar, and the 

sum of fifty dollars in money, and the other articles of 

personal property mentioned, on her person; and that this de-

fendant and others, with force and arms, took that personal 

property from her person, and feloniously did steal, take and 

carry it away, against the form of the statute in such case. 

made and provided. The indictment charges him with the taking 

of personal property from the person of Mrs. Schubert, with 

felonipus intent, in the day time, on the 1st of May, 1912. 

Then a preliminary statement in the indictment is 

that, prior to that time, he had been convicted of the crime of 

robbery in the first degree and had been sentenced to a term 

of imprisonment by one of the judges of this court, ands, 

therefore, he is indicted as a second offender. 

So you see there is nothing complicated about the 

charge, that it is a very simple char,-e, and the indictment 



• says that the crime with which he is charged is against the 

statute made and provided. 

You understand that  this iS not an action between 

Veronica Schubert and this defendant. Its. is entitled The 

People of the State of New York against Thomas Courtney and 

others; and by that term "The People of the State of New York!' 

is meant organized society, the union of society, efilbracing 

and made up of every human being who lives within the borders 

of this State, whatever their  situation or condition of life 

may be. And that great society has the right to make laws-s< 

knd has exercised the right to make laws, which are binding 

upon every one who wishes to live within this State. They 

are enacted to protect every one within the State, and they 

must be observed by eyery, one, and the violation of one of the 

• penal laws of the State is a crime. 

The particular statute that is referred to in the 

• .iindictment is known as Section 1290 of the Penal Law, entitled, 

"Larceny defined", which provides as follows: _ 

"A person who, with the intent to deprive the true 

owner of his property, or. of the use and benefit thereof, or 
to appropr'iate the same to the use of the taker, or of any 

other person, takes from the possession of the true owner, o 

of any other person, or appropriates to his own:use, or that 

of any person other than the true owner, any money, personal 

property, steals such property, and is guilty of larcen3r,9 



Now, there could not be a plainer statement than 

that. That does that section, Section 1290, forbid? The 

taking of personal property, with felonious intent, and the' 

crime charged against this defendant is the taking of personal 

property from the true owner, Mrs. Schubert, with felonious 

intent, with the intent of deilliving her of it, and of approp-

riating it to -his use, or, the use of any one other than Mrs. 

Schubert. 

So that you have to decide here, first: Was there 

any personal property taken? Second: What was the inter t.

the taker? And, third: Is this the person. who took the 

property;, i± you find that any was taken? 

Now, larceny is divided into degrees, and SeCtion-

1296 defines grand larceny in the second degree as follows: 

"A person.is guilty of grand larceny in the second 

dee:ree who, under circunstances not amounting to grand larcenY 

in the first degree, in any manner specified'in this'artiole 

steals or unlawfully obtains, or appropriates property of any 

value, by trJcinc same fror the prson of another." 

That is, if any -ol)::rty was taken in this case 

any personal property, from the person of Mrs. Schubert,. if 

she had a bag on her arm, containing even one penny, and this. 

defendant took it from her, with felonious -intent., with12-0 

intent of depriving her of the use and benefit of it, and of 

approftiat ing it to his own use, he would .14 uilty of gV d 

- 



larceny in the second degree, 

The law authorizes an indictment, as I have said, 

a second offence,-:when a person charged With a.crime in the. 

indictment has been previously convicted of a felony, or the, 

misdemeanor of petit larceny, 

In this case it is charged that the defendant was 

previously convicted of the felony of robbery. 

Now, you understand that there is a sharp line ofr 

division between the power and duty of the Court and your 

powers and your duties. The Court has its own work to do,, 

and does not wish to impose upon you its views in any way. 

It is the duty of the Court to sec that the defendant is tried 

according to law, that he receives a fair trial, and a great 

judge in thi8 State has said that a fair'trial is a legal 

trial, that a man whose legal rights are respected in a trial 

has a fair trial. That is what that means. And it is the 

duty of the Court to see that he gets such a trial, 

Now, then, it is the dUty of the Court to instruct 

the jury, in a case v,here the Court deems it necessary to submit 

the case to the jury, on the law, and it is your duty to take 

the law from the Court without question. For instance, •when 

I tell you what larceny is, that it is the felonious taking .Q.f 

personal property, or the taking of personal property with 

felonious intent, you must not question that statement, or, 

when I tell you what grand larceny in the second degree is, you 



must not question that statement. But then You have the 

power of deciding the facts in the case. You must say what 

has been proved in the case, and facts are proved by witnesses; 

and, incidental to your great power of passing on the facts). 

is your power of determining the credibility of witnesses. 

That word "credibility!' means worthiness of belief. What 

witnesses here were worthy of belief? That is your burden. 

What witnesses here till you believe? 

You must use your best judgment and good sense in 

deciding that question, and you must do it honestly and faith 

It is not your duty to speculate about the result 

your verdict. What you must determine for yoursblves is how 

to reach an honest verdict, and there your responsibility, ends. 

You are dot responsible for what may be the result of your 

verdict. You have no right to consider the penalty of the 

crime, or what may happen to the defendantr if he is convicted, 

or to society, if the defendant is acquitted. That is not 

your burden. Keep the law in mind, keep the charge in mind) 

and then weigh the evidence in the light of the law as given 

to you by the Court, and pronounce your verdict. 

The law is that the defendant is presumed to be 

innocent, and, in the absence of credible testimony sufficient 

to convince you of his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt* he is 

entitled to go free. The burden of producing that evidence is 



upon the People, and, as I have said, if the People call wit-

nesses, or the defendant calls witnesses, or takes the stand-

himself, you must weigh all the testimony in the case, ad de-

cide what facts have been proved; and if, after you weigh the 

testimony honestly, and faithfully and carefully* you are 

firmly convinced to a moral certainty that the defendant is 

guilty, you must say so; and, if your minds are left in a 

state of doubt-, if you find yourselves unable ,to say that you 

are firmly convinced that he is guilty, then your minds are in 

a state of reasonable doubt, and the defendant is entitled to 

A reasonable doubt has been defined as one that 

rests on reason, connected with or flowing from the evidence 

or lack of evidence in a case. It is not a doubt that is 

based on sympathy for a defendant, or prejudice against a wit-

ness, or any class of witnesses, but it is an honest doubt 

based -on reason connected with the evidence in the case, 

Now, as I said at times during the trial, when there 

was some discussion, when, a witness takes the witness stand he 

subjects himself to cross examination, and the defendant's 

counsel has the sane right as the District Attorney to question 

him as to any criminal or vicious act he may have committed, 

and, if the witness has been convicted of crime, you have a 

right to consider that in determining his credibility. That 

is the la,m, that you may consider that. 



There are no rules which control you in determining 

what facts are established by the testimony, if any are estab-

lished. In that regard you are left entirely free„and there 

are no rules that bind you. You must use your best judgment.,, 

you must be honest, you must consider the manner and the in-

telligence of a witness in giving testimony, the interest of 

a witness in the controversy, if any. You saw these =nen" 

and you know whether they are intelligent or not, whether they. 

know what they are talking about. Are they honest women? Did 

If any witness wilfully makes a false statement on a 

material matter in the case, that withess is guilty of perjury, 

and you may disregard the entire testimony of that :'witness. 

It is for you, therefore, to say, whether On the 

whole case you are satisfied that these witnesses told the 

truth, and whether their evidence satisfies you beyond a 

reasonable doubt of the defendant's guiltt or whether the de.. 

fendant has told the truth, or whether he is animated by a de-

sire to gain his freedom, and is, t14:4refore, telling you what 

is not true. You have to decide that on the whole case. 

You have to-dec-id-e. whether or not there-was any crime 

or larceny committed at that time and place; and, secondly) 

did this defendant commit it; and, if he did, and he was pre* 

viously convicted of a felony, as set forth in the indictment', 

and he has conceded that, you may find him guilty of the crime 



Now, Mr. District Attorney, have you any requests 

lam COURT: Mr. Simpson, have you any requests 

MR. SIMPSON: Yes, sir. I ask your Honor to 

charge the 'jury that they are not to be influenced, 

under any consideration, by the statements of the 

District Attorney as to the poor janitor's wife.: who 

had the earnings of her husband, the poor janitor, 

in her DoCket,' and are not to allow that statement 

your Honor to charge 

that part of your Honor's definition of :the second 

offence as to the question of misdemeanor, 

THE COURT: Well, I will withdraw that. That • 

is immaterial in this case, because you have conceded 

that this defendant was previously convicted of 

T.M. SIMPSON: Yes. 

THE COURT: Then I will 



I have not the exact section before me howl, 11 

Simpson; I will read it  to you afterwards, if you 

desire, after the jury has retired. 

MR. SIMPSON: No, sir; not at all. 

TI COURT: I withdraw that statement. 

You may retire, gentlemen. 

(The jury retired at 2:50 P. M.) 

(The jury returned to the court room, at 5:20 

T1 COURT: Now, gentlemen of the jury,,. I re 

ceived this communication from the jury: "We should 

like to have the testimony of Mrs. Caddell, Mrs. 

Schubert and Mrs. Doernberg." I take itto mean 

that the jurors want that testimony read, is that, 

(The stenographer then read to the jury the. 

nony of' Mrs. Caddell, Mrs. Schubert and Mrs. 



(The jury-returned to the Court-roc0. at.:1;1: 

jury found the defendantguiItyof grand 144,600.3“ft-

second degree, as a second offence). 

1R. SIMPSON: I ask that the jury be poflé&. 

(The ,jury is polled by the clerk). 

THE COURT.: I will remand him for a week, and, 

may reserve the right to make your motions at that 



New York, July 18th, 1912. 

The defendant being arraigned fOr sentence: 

- MR. SIMPSON:‘ I---a-s-k-a-weekts adjournment Of 

sentence, to procure some'evidence that I have. heard 

• THE COURT: In view of the fact that the crime 

charged against the defendant was committed on the 1st 

of May, 1912; that the defendant was arrested on the 

7th of May, 1912; indicted on the 15th of May, 1912 

and had two months in which to prepare his case, 

because he was not tried until the 16th of July, of 

1912, and in view of the nature of the defense, and in 

view of all the information gained by the Court during 

the trial, the motion is denied. It is a clear case, 

and it only remains for the Court to impose the 

maximum sentence. 

MR SIYPSON: Will your Honor give me an op-

portunity to make my motions before sentence? 

MR,SIETSOE: In behalf of the defendant, 

a new trial herein, on the following 'grounds: 

1- Because the verdict is. contrary to law* 

2- Because the verdict is-CIedrly against the



z. 4- Because the Court erred in denying "the. de-

fendant's motion to advise the jury to acquit. . 

Because the Court at the trial; admitted il-

legal and improper evidence against .d±'eudantTs 

objections, and. excluded legal evidence offered by 

him, and the defendant, at the trial, excepted to 

such admissions and exclusions. 

6- Because the Court, at the trial, misdirected' 

the jury in matter's of law. 

7- Upon the ground that the jury who tried this. 

defendant retired at 2:50 P. M., after being charged2, 

and remained in this courthouse until 11 P. M. That 

is all upon that point. 

THE COURT: Motion denied. 

F,IMPSON: Exception. And the defendant moves 

in arrest of judgment for legal and prejudicial errors 

apparent on the face of the record. 

.THE COURT: Denied. 

YR. SIYPSOF: Exception. And I ask your Honor to 

grant me a stay of a few days in this ease. 

THE COURT: The sentence of the Court is that he 

be confined in State Prison for nine years and six 

months. And the Motion for a stay is denied. . 

15k)0.1 
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